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I. NATURE OF THE COMPLAINT 

 
1. This complaint brought by the National Community Reinvestment Coalition (the 

“NCRC” or “Complainant”) arises out of racially discriminatory lending policies maintained by 

Respondents Fieldstone Investment Corporation and Fieldstone Mortgage Company 

(collectively, “Fieldstone”).  NCRC seeks a declaratory judgment, permanent injunctive relief, 

and damages for Fieldstone’s unlawful behavior.  This action is brought under the Fair Housing 

Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq. (the “FHA”).   

2. Complainant NCRC is a national non-profit organization with the mission and 

purpose of increasing fair and equal access to credit, capital, and banking services and products 

for all Americans, regardless of race.  Fieldstone’s racially discriminatory policies and practices 

have frustrated NCRC’s mission of increasing the flow of private capital into underserved 

communities and have caused NCRC to expend its scarce resources on educational programs, 



investigations, and litigation to identify and combat such practices. 

3. Fieldstone has engaged in a pattern and practice of discrimination against African 

Americans and residents in African-American neighborhoods in the policies and practices it uses 

to determine eligibility in two of its loan programs – the “High Street” program, which is 

available for both first and second mortgages, and the “South Street” program, which is available 

for first mortgages.  See Exhs. A, B (Fieldstone’s description of the South Street and High Street 

programs).  Fieldstone Mortgage Company’s South Street and High Street loan programs consist 

of low interest fixed and adjustable rate mortgage (ARM) loans.  Borrowers who qualify for 

these programs have a variety of loan options from which to choose.  The loan programs benefit 

borrowers because they provide for a graduated and reasonable interest rate increase for ARM 

loans and for fixed rate loans that allow the borrower to finance interest only or defer a balloon 

payment for up to 15 years.     

4. Fieldstone has instituted several discriminatory lending policies in its South Street 

and High Street programs.  First, Fieldstone has maintained and published two discriminatory 

minimum value policies.  The first minimum value policy denies loans to all South Street 

program applicants with houses valued at less than $100,000 (hereinafter referred to as “South 

Street minimum value policy”).  See Exh. A at 1.  Fieldstone’s other minimum value policy 

denies loans to all High Street program applicants who own row houses that are not located in a 

planned unit development (“PUD”) and that are valued at less than $100,000 (hereinafter 

referred to as the “High Street minimum value policy”).  See Exh. B at 17.  Both of these 

minimum value policies have the purpose and effect of discriminating against African Americans 

and residents of African-American neighborhoods in major metropolitan areas across the nation, 

where houses valued under $100,000 are more heavily concentrated, and favoring residents 
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located in majority white neighborhoods, where the majority of houses are valued over $100,000.  

Upon information and belief, these minimum value polices have a similar purpose and effect of 

discriminating against Latinos and residents of Latino communities.  

5. Second, in addition to its minimum value policies, Fieldstone has instituted a 

discriminatory policy of denying all loans for High Street program applicants who own row 

houses in Baltimore, regardless of the value of the house (hereinafter “no row house policy”).  

See Exh. B at 17.  Fieldstone’s no row house policy has the purpose and effect of discriminating 

against African Americans and residents of African-American neighborhoods in Baltimore, 

where, upon information and belief, approximately two-thirds of all row houses are located.   

6. There is no business justification for Fieldstone’s discriminatory minimum value 

policies or no row house policy.  Under Fieldstone’s minimum value policies in the High Street 

and South Street programs, applicants who meet traditional lending criteria, such as a strong 

FICO or other credit score, steady income, significant assets, and low loan-to-value ratios, would 

still be excluded from consideration for a mortgage loan based solely on the value of his or her 

house.  Likewise, under its no row house policy, Fieldstone automatically rejects applications 

based solely on the applicant’s property type without regard to any traditional lending criteria. 

7. Fieldstone’s discriminatory lending policies have caused, and continue to cause, 

direct injury to African Americans and Latinos and residents of African-American and Latino 

neighborhoods in major metropolitan areas across the nation.   

II. PARTIES 

8. Complainant NCRC is a national non-profit corporation organized under the laws 

of the District of Columbia, with its principal place of business located at 727 15th Street, Suite 

900, Washington, D.C. 20005.  NCRC was formed in 1990 by national, regional, and local 
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organizations to develop and harness the collective energies of community reinvestment 

organizations from across the country.  NCRC members represent and protect traditionally 

underserved and vulnerable populations.  Members include community development 

corporations, civil rights groups, community reinvestment advocates, local and state government 

agencies, and churches.  One of NCRC’s primary missions is to increase fair and equal access to 

credit, capital, and banking services and products to individuals, regardless of race. 

9.  Respondent Fieldstone Investment Corporation is a mortgage banking company 

incorporated in Maryland, with its principal place of business located at 11000 Broken Land 

Parkway, Suite 600, Columbia, Maryland 21044.  Fieldstone Investment Corporation originates, 

sells, securitizes, and services non-conforming and conforming single-family residential 

mortgage loans throughout the United States.  Fieldstone Investment Corporation operates fifty-

two offices in twenty states and is headquartered in Columbia, Maryland. 

10. Respondent Fieldstone Mortgage Company is a nationwide residential mortgage 

banking company incorporated in Maryland, with its principal place of business located at 2 

North Charles Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21201.  Fieldstone Mortgage Company originates 

non-conforming and conforming residential mortgage loans through over 4,700 independent 

mortgage brokers and a network of retail branch offices located throughout the country.  

Fieldstone Mortgage Company is a subsidiary of and originates most of the loans owned and 

managed by Respondent Fieldstone Investment Corporation. 

III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. Demographics and Property Values in Major Metropolitan Areas 
 
11. In major metropolitan areas across the nation, residential housing patterns remain 

highly segregated.  The vast majority of African Americans in urban areas reside in majority 
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black census tracts, while the vast majority of white residents reside in majority white census 

tracts.  In major cities across the nation, such as Baltimore, Philadelphia, Detroit, St. Louis, and 

Cleveland, racial segregation is starkly defined by neighborhood; very few mixed or integrated 

neighborhoods exist. 

12. These patterns of residential housing segregation substantially overlap with the 

value of the housing stock, with lower valued housing stock significantly more concentrated in 

African-American neighborhoods.  Illustrative of this relationship between residential housing 

segregation and the value of housing stock are the metropolitan areas of Baltimore-Towson, MD; 

Philadelphia, PA; Detroit-Livonia-Dearborn, MI; St. Louis MO-IL; and Cleveland-Elyria-

Mentor, OH.  Based on estimates drawn from 2004 mortgage lending data, in each of these 

metropolitan areas, houses valued at less than $100,000 are more heavily concentrated in 

majority black census tracts, i.e., census tracts in which African Americans constitute at least 

50% of the total population, and the vast majority of houses valued at more than $100,000 are 

located in majority white census tracts, i.e., census tracts in which whites constitute at least 50% 

of the population.   

1. Baltimore-Towson 

13. The metropolitan statistical area (“MSA”) of Baltimore-Towson, MD consists of 

Anne Arundel County, Baltimore County, Baltimore City, Carroll County, Harford County, 

Howard County, and Queen Anne’s County. 

14. After decades of white flight from Baltimore City, the Baltimore-Towson MSA 

remains highly segregated.  According to 2004 Census estimates, African Americans constitute 

65.4% of the total population of Baltimore City, Maryland.  In contrast, African Americans in 

Baltimore County, which almost completely surrounds Baltimore City, constitute only 23.2% of 
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the population.  Nearly 70% of all African Americans residing in either Baltimore City or 

Baltimore County are located in Baltimore City.  African Americans constitute only 13.6%, 

2.3%, 9.3%, 14.4%, respectively, of the population of the surrounding counties of Anne Arundel, 

Carroll, Harford, and Howard.  About two-thirds of African Americans in this MSA reside in 

majority black census tracts, and nearly 95% of white residents live in majority white census 

tracts.   

15. The patterns of residential housing segregation in the Baltimore-Towson MSA 

substantially overlap with the value of the housing stock.  See Exh. C.  Fifty-two percent of all 

houses located within majority black census tracts sold for less than $100,000.  Conversely, only 

9% of houses located within majority white census tracts were sold for less than $100,000.  

Moreover, 92% of all houses sold in 2004 for more than $100,000 in Baltimore-Towson were 

located in majority white census tracts. 

16. In addition to house values, property type is also strongly correlated to the racial 

composition of neighborhoods in Baltimore City.  Upon information and belief, nearly two-thirds 

of the row houses in Baltimore City are occupied by African Americans, and the majority of row 

houses are located in African-American neighborhoods.  Upon information and belief, row 

houses valued at less than $100,000 are disproportionately located in African-American 

neighborhoods and owned by African Americans. 

2. Philadelphia 

17. The metropolitan division of Philadelphia, PA consists of Bucks County, PA, 

Chester County, PA, Delaware County, PA, Montgomery County, PA, and Philadelphia County, 

PA.  

18. The Philadelphia metropolitan division is characterized by significant levels of 
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residential housing segregation.  Nearly 70% of African Americans reside in majority black 

census tracts, while 95% of white residents live in majority white census tracts.  

19. This pattern of residential housing segregation substantially overlaps with the 

value of the housing stock.  See Exh. D.  Sixty-seven percent of houses sold in 2004 within 

majority black census tracts were valued at less than $100,000, while only 16% of houses sold 

within majority white census tracts were valued at less than $100,000.  In addition, 96% of all 

houses sold for more than $100,000 in the MSA were located in majority white census tracts.  

20. In addition to house values, property type is also correlated to the racial 

composition of neighborhoods in the city of Philadelphia.  Upon information and belief, row 

houses are more heavily concentrated in African-American and Latino areas, and the majority of 

row houses in Philadelphia are owned by minorities and located in minority neighborhoods.  

Upon information and belief, row houses valued at less than $100,000 are disproportionately 

located in black and Latino neighborhoods and owned by Latinos and African Americans. 

3. Detroit-Livonia-Dearborn 

21. The metropolitan division of Detroit-Livonia-Dearborn, MI consists of Wayne 

County, MI.   

22. The Detroit-Livonia-Dearborn metropolitan division has a very high level of 

racial segregation.  Ninety-one percent of African Americans reside in majority black census 

tracts, while 92% of white residents live in majority white census tracts.   

23. The value of housing substantially correlates with these patterns of segregation.  

See Exh. E.  Sixty-five percent of all houses sold for less than $100,000 in 2004 were located in 

majority black census tracts; 58% were located in predominantly black census tracts, i.e., census 

tracts where African Americans constitute at least 75% of the population.  Conversely, 84% of 
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all houses sold for more than $100,000 were located in majority white census tracts; 81% were 

located in predominantly white census tracts, i.e, census tracts where whites constitute at least 

75% of the population.   

24. Similar disparities emerge in the value of housing stock within census tracts.  Of 

the houses sold in majority black census tracts, 71% were valued at less than $100,000.  In 

contrast, only 17% of houses in majority white census tracts were valued at less than $100,000.  

Upon information and belief, row houses valued at less than $100,000 are disproportionately 

located in African-American neighborhoods and owned by African Americans. 

4. St. Louis 

25. The St. Louis, MO-IL MSA consists of the following counties:  Bond County, IL, 

Calhoun County, IL, Clinton County, IL, Jersey County, IL, Macoupin County, IL, Madison 

County, IL, Monroe County, IL, St. Clair County, IL, Crawford County, MO, Franklin County, 

MO, Jefferson County, MO, Lincoln County, MO, Saint Louis City, MO, St. Charles County, 

MO, St. Louis County, MO, Warren County, MO, and Washington County, MO.  

26. The St. Louis MSA has high levels of residential housing segregation.  

Approximately two-thirds of African Americans reside in majority black census tracts, while 

97% of white residents live in majority white census tracts. 

27. The value of housing stock in St. Louis correlates with this pattern of residential 

housing segregation.  See Exh. F.  Ninety-five percent of all houses sold for more than $100,000 

were located in majority white census tracts.  Only 24% of the houses located within majority 

white census tracts were sold for less than $100,000, while 69% of houses sold in majority black 

census tracts were sold for less than $100,000.  Upon information and belief, row houses valued 

at less than $100,000 are disproportionately located in African-American neighborhoods and 
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owned by African Americans.  

5.   Cleveland-Elyria-Mentor 

28. The Cleveland-Elyria-Mentor, OH MSA consists of Cuyahoga County, Geauga 

County, Lake County, Lorain County, and Medina County.  

29. High levels of segregation exist in the Cleveland-Elyria-Mentor, OH MSA.  

Seventy-four percent of African Americans live in majority black census tracts, while 96% of 

white residents live in majority white census tracts. 

30. The concentration of lower value housing stock in the Cleveland-Elyria-Mentor 

MSA is consistent with the results from each of the other metropolitan areas described in this 

complaint.  See Exh. G.  Seventy-one percent of houses sold in 2004 within majority black 

census tracts were valued at less than $100,000.  That percentage is more than three times the 

percentage (23%) of houses valued at less than $100,000 within majority white census tracts.  In 

addition, 95% of all houses sold for more than $100,000 in 2004 were located within majority 

white census tracts.  Upon information and belief, row houses valued at less than $100,000 are 

disproportionately located in African-American neighborhoods and owned by African 

Americans.  

B. Row Houses and Demographics  

31. Upon information and belief, the majority of row houses in major metropolitan 

areas are owned by African Americans and Latinos and are concentrated in African-American or 

Latino neighborhoods.  Upon information and belief, nearly two-thirds of the row houses in 

Baltimore City are occupied by African Americans, and the majority of row houses are located in 

African-American neighborhoods.  Similarly, upon information and belief, although a substantial 

percentage of the housing stock in Philadelphia consists of row houses, row houses are more 
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heavily concentrated in African-American and Latino neighborhoods, and the majority of row 

houses in Philadelphia are owned by African-American and Latino residents.   

C. Fieldstone’s Discriminatory Lending Policies 

1. Minimum Value Policies 

32. Fieldstone has maintained discriminatory minimum value policies in its South 

Street and High Street programs.  Under its South Street minimum value policy, eligibility for 

the South Street program is restricted to only those applicants with houses valued at more than 

$100,000.  Likewise, under its High Street minimum value policy, eligibility for the High Street 

program is restricted to only those applicants with row houses that are not in a PUD and are 

valued at more than $100,000.  Under these minimum value policies, Fieldstone automatically 

rejects any applicant for the South Street program with a house valued at less than $100,000 and 

any applicant to the High Street program with a row house that is not in a PUD and is valued at 

less than $100,000, even if the house value falls right below this minimum threshold.   

33. The discriminatory purpose and effect of Fieldstone’s minimum value policies on 

African Americans and individuals residing in majority black neighborhoods in major 

metropolitan areas is highly predictable.  As detailed in Part III.A, supra, houses valued at less 

than $100,000 in major urban areas are disproportionately concentrated in majority black 

neighborhoods.  The vast majority of houses valued at more than $100,000 are located in 

majority white neighborhoods.   

34. The adverse and disproportionate impact of these minimum value policies is both 

significant and substantial.  For example, under the South Street minimum value policy, more 

than half of the individuals who qualified for mortgage loans with houses located in majority 

black census tracts in Baltimore in 2004 would have failed to qualify for a loan.  The rates of 
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denial that would result from the South Street minimum value policy in other metropolitan areas, 

i.e., Philadelphia (69%), Detroit (71%), St. Louis (69%), and Cleveland (71%), are even higher. 

35. Similarly, the High Street minimum value policy of $100,000 for row houses that 

are not located in a PUD has a significant and disproportionate impact on minority residents in 

major metropolitan areas.  As detailed in Part III.A, supra, upon information and belief, row 

houses valued at under $100,000 are highly concentrated in majority minority neighborhoods in 

major metropolitan areas across the nation.  By denying loans only for row houses that fall under 

a high minimum threshold of $100,000, Fieldstone has effectively denied the availability of its 

High Street program to residents of African-American and Latino communities.   

36. Through implementation of its minimum value policies, Fieldstone has ensured 

that its High Street and South Street programs will primarily serve residents in majority white 

neighborhoods in major metropolitan areas.  

37. Given the strong correlation between house values, property types, and 

demographics, Fieldstone knew or should have known that its High Street and South Street 

minimum value policies would have an adverse and disproportionate discriminatory effect on 

loan applicants who are African-American or live in majority African-American neighborhoods 

in major metropolitan areas across the nation.  Upon information and belief, Fieldstone’s 

minimum value policies have a similar discriminatory purpose and effect on Latinos and 

residents of Latino neighborhoods in major metropolitan areas.   

38. There is no business justification for Fieldstone’s minimum value policies.  The 

value of a borrower’s house alone has no relation to that borrower’s risk of default.  Standard 

industry factors that may have a bearing on loan eligibility include the size of the loan, the loan-

to-value ratio, and the potential borrower’s income, assets, debt ratios, or credit history.  These 
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factors may have a predictive relationship to a borrower’s ability to repay a loan and can be 

indicative of creditworthiness.  By contrast, Fieldstone’s minimum value policies exclude a 

homeowner who would otherwise qualify if traditional indicia of creditworthiness were 

considered.  For example, an applicant with a row house worth $99,000 would be denied a loan 

under both programs, despite having a good credit score, steady income, and low debt ratios.   

39. If Fieldstone employed the standard loan criteria without a minimum value policy, 

as do the nation’s leading lenders, it would significantly reduce the adverse impact that its 

lending criteria have on African-American and other minority homeowners and homeowners in 

majority minority neighborhoods in major metropolitan areas without increasing the company’s 

risk exposure.        

2. No Row House Policy in Baltimore  

40. Fieldstone also maintains a discriminatory policy of automatically denying its 

loan products in the High Street program to any applicant with a row house in Baltimore based 

solely on the applicant’s property type, without regard to traditional lending criteria.  Thus, for 

example, an applicant in Baltimore with a row house, despite having substantial assets, a strong 

FICO score, low LTV, and steady income, would not qualify for a loan of any size under the 

High Street program.  This policy has a disproportionate adverse impact on African Americans 

and residents of African-American neighborhoods in Baltimore City. 

41. There is no business justification for Fieldstone’s no row house policy.  Property 

type does not bear a relationship to the credit risk involved in extending the loan.  If Fieldstone 

employed traditional lending criteria, rather than an applicant’s property type, it would 

significantly reduce the adverse impact that its lending criteria have on African-American 

homeowners and homeowners in majority black neighborhoods in Baltimore without increasing 
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the company’s risk exposure.          

IV. INJURY CAUSED BY RESPONDENTS 

42. Through numerous workshops, conferences, systemic testing, reports, education 

and outreach, and “best practice” compliance initiatives, NCRC has provided education, training, 

and technical assistance to its members, community organizations, and advocates at the local, 

regional, and national level to promote fair lending and access to capital in low-income and 

minority communities across the country.  The unlawful discriminatory actions of Fieldstone 

have injured the NCRC by: (a) interfering with those efforts and programs of the NCRC intended 

to promote fair lending; (b) requiring the NCRC to commit scarce resources, including 

substantial staff time, to investigate complaints and review Fieldstone’s lending practices, 

engage in an education and outreach campaign, and develop educational materials to identify and 

counteract the unlawful actions of Fieldstone, thus diverting those resources from other testing, 

education, counseling, and capacity-building services, and (c) frustrating the NCRC’s mission 

and purpose of increasing fair and equal access to credit, capital, and banking services and 

products for all Americans, regardless of race.  The discriminatory actions of Respondents have 

required, and will require the NCRC in the future, to spend additional resources to counteract 

Fieldstone’s discriminatory conduct. 

43. As a result of Respondents’ discriminatory conduct, individuals in the 

communities served by the NCRC have been: (a) discouraged from applying for loans, and (b) 

deprived of equal access to credit, capital, and banking services and products.  As a result of 

Respondents’ discriminatory conduct, communities served by the NCRC and its member 

organizations have been denied the flow of capital, the provision of banking services, and the 

economic growth that accompanies capital and banking services.  In response, the NCRC has 
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made substantial efforts and expended considerable resources to investigate the existence and 

effects of Fieldstone’s lending policies and to ensure equal lending opportunities for potential 

borrowers. 

44. The NCRC has been, and continues to be, adversely affected by the acts, policy, 

and practice of Respondents and/or their respective agents. 

45. Unless enjoined, Fieldstone will continue in the unlawful acts and practices 

described above. 

46. Respondents’ unlawful practice constitutes discrimination in the terms, 

conditions, or privileges of the provision of services or facilities in connection with the sale or 

rental of dwellings in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b) and discrimination in the making of real 

estate-related transactions in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3605. 

47. Respondents’ unlawful actions described above were, and are, intentional and 

willful, and/or have been, and are, implemented with callous and reckless disregard for the 

federally protected rights of the NCRC, its constituent members, and the individuals and 

communities it serves. 

48. Each of the Respondents was and is the agent, employee and representative of 

each of the other Respondents.  Each Respondent, in doing the acts or in omitting to act as 

alleged in this statement, was acting in the course and scope of its actual or apparent authority 

pursuant to such agencies, or the alleged acts or omissions of each Respondent as agent were 

subsequently ratified and adopted by each agent as principal. 

V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

49. The NCRC prays that HUD enter a declaratory judgment finding that the 

foregoing actions of Respondents violate the FHA; enter a permanent injunction directing 
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Fieldstone to take all affirmative steps necessary to remedy the effect of the illegal, 

discriminatory conduct described herein and to prevent similar occurrences in the future; award 

compensatory damages that would fully compensate the NCRC for the frustration of mission and 

diversion of resources that has been caused by the conduct of Respondents alleged herein; award 

a civil penalty against Respondents, and direct the payment of reasonable attorneys’ fees to 

counsel for the NCRC. 


